# 2007 - KA - 00970 - SCT

Leslie Lee, Esq., MSB # Mississippi Office of Indigent Appeals 301 N. Lamar St. Ste 210 Jackson, MS 39201 Telephone: 601.576.4205

and

Phillip W. Broadhead, MSB

Criminal Appeals Clinic
The University of Mississippi School of Law
520 Lamar Law Center
Post Office Box 1848
University, MS 38677-1848

Telephone: 662.915.5560 Facsimile: 662.915.6933

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-00970-SCT

SCOTT CALDWELL

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

# **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO DISMISS BOTH COUNTS AFTER THE PROSECUTION BROUGHT THE CASE IN THE WRONG VENUE AND "MIS-CHARACTERIZED" THE ILLEGAL TESTIMONY AS M.R.E. 404(B) EVIDENCE, ALLOWING THE JURY TO HEAR IMPROPER AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY WHEN SUCH EVIDENCE FATALLY PREJUDICED THE JURY.

#### **ISSUE TWO:**

#### Α.

WHETHER IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO EXCLUDE TESTIMONY ABOUT PRIOR SEXUAL ABUSE BY THE CHILD AND THE PERPETRATORS UNDER M.R.E. 412, WHICH WOULD HAVE SUPPORTED THE DEFENSE THEORY THAT SOMEONE ELSE HAD COMMITTED SEXUAL ABUSE ON THE CHILD, AND THAT WAS THE REASON FOR HER FALSE ACCUSATION AGAINST HER STEPFATHER AND HER KNOWLEDGE OF SEXUAL TERMINOLOGY.

B.

WAS IT ERROR TO THEN ADMIT HEARSAY REBUTTAL TESTIMONY UNDER M.R.E. 803(25), THE "TENDER YEARS" DOCTRINE, REGARDING THAT ALLEGED PRIOR ABUSE WHEN THE CHILD WAS AVAILABLE AND CAPABLE TO GIVE SUCH TESTIMONY HERSELF, GIVING THE DEFENSE AN OPPORTUNITY TO CROSS-EXAMINE ON AN ISSUE THAT WAS

#### PREVIOUSLY FORECLOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

#### **ISSUE THREE:**

WHETHER, GIVING ALL REASONABLE INFERENCES TO THE JURY'S VERDICT, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE, GIVEN THAT THE ONLY EVIDENCE AGAINST THE DEFENDANT WAS IMPROPER HEARSAY THAT ONLY SERVED TO BOLSTER A NINE-YEAR OLD CHILD'S INCONSISTENT TESTIMONY.

#### STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Scott Caldwell is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2001).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case where an already terrible situation escalated after a false accusation, fueled by confused anger, was made by a traumatized child. Jane Doe<sup>1</sup>, the accuser, had been repeatedly molested by her two older stepbrothers. (T. I. 92-97) Once Jane's mother and stepfather, Scott Caldwell, the Appellant herein, became aware of the sexual abuse, they took measures to ensure it ended, but they also tried to keep it a secret. (T. III. 368-370) Jane Doe's stepfather, whom she called "daddy," (T. I. 52) was, in her mind, her protector, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A fictitious name has been substituted.

his failure was the ultimate betrayal. Confused and upset, Jane Doe wanted to punish her stepfather for not keeping her safe. (T. II. 365-368)

When her Aunt, Christina Gray, asked her about a bruise she had received on the playground, Jane Doe saw an opportunity to get even with her stepfather. (T. I. 3) Instead of telling her aunt what had really happened, which was that her stepbrothers had molested her, she told her aunt that her daddy was "sexing" her. (T. I. 4) From that point, the situation grew exponentially. Everyone who got involved in finding the truth about what happened to Jane Doe, from the DHS worker to the investigators, failed. They decided that Scott was guilty and did nothing to explore any other possibilities. They ignored any evidence that would exonerate Scott, and disregarded the possibility that Jane Doe was not telling the truth. The fact that she was molested by her older stepbrothers was regarded as "irrelevant and unimportant." (T. I. 77-80, R.E. 19-22, 25).

Scott Caldwell was indicted for two counts of sexual battery on February 19, 2005. (CP. 3-4, R.E. 10-11), and he was tried by a jury in Lee County Circuit Court on both counts on the 26th through the 27th day of February, 2007. Prior to the trial, the State requested a hearing to determine whether or not Jane's hearsay statements regarding the alleged molestation by Scott would be admitted under the "tender years" doctrine. Despite the Court's findings that Jane "was able to articulate well the acts that allegedly have been committed on her," the request to allow the hearsay testimony was granted. (T. I.118-19, R.E. 19-22). At trial, the State called family members, a forensic investigator, a Department of Human Services investigator, and a child psychologist to bolster Jane Doe's confessions of

Scott allegedly "sexing" her; of Scott allegedly putting "his thingy in her mouth and white stuff [coming] out" (T. II. 282); of Scott allegedly touching "her lips with his winkle more than one time that it tasted really bad." (T. III. 314) The jury was allowed to repeatedly hear atrocious tales of sexual molestation by Scott, but the jury was not allowed to hear the story of the real source of Jane's molestation: The story of the stepbrothers, Chad and Eric Caldwell. (T. II. 196). During the State's case-in-chief, the testimony revealed that Count II of the indictment in this case actually occurred in Itawamba County, which was the wrong venue. The trial judge initially ruled that the Lee County Circuit Court had no jurisdiction in that case (T. II 249-251) and was posed to dismiss the count, but changed her ruling based on the prosecution's argument that the Count II testimony was admissible under *Mississippi Rule of Evidence 404(b)* and allowed the State to continue to present testimony concerning this count. (T. II 254-255)

The Court denied Appellant the opportunity to present his theory of defense through the testimony of the two stepbrothers. (T. II. 196) The trial court denied Scott the opportunity to demonstrate that Jane's "injuries could have been caused by someone other than Mr. Caldwell." (T. 187) Instead, the jury heard accusations from law enforcement investigators who failed to look into leads that pointed to others besides Scott, (T. I. 77-80 & T. III 301-304) and who improperly testified that "it was very obvious that Mr. Caldwell was lying." (T. II. 302). The Department of Human Services admitted to having never investigated Jane Doe's prior molestation by the two stepbrothers because it was "old information." (T. I. 79). The jury was filled with stories of molestation of this child by not

one, but six people: Jane Doe, her aunt, her grandmother, Detective Fincher, Angie Floyd and Dr. Koranek. The repetitive testimony left little room for the jury to consider the possibility that Scott was scared to report the abuse by the stepbrothers because he feared "it would get blamed on him." (T. III. 369). Scott was given directions not to go to the authorities, but to go to the Lord. Scott's spiritual leader, Reverend Merchant testified that "if it was the boys that done it...just put it in the hands of the Lord and the Lord will work it out." (T. 413).

Scott did not go to authorities, and the possibility that Jane Doe might have made up a story because she was angry about Scott's inaction was never looked into or sufficiently presented to the jury. Durenda, Jane Doe's mother, testified that Jane would "make threats" when things would not go her way. (T. III. 384). Scott testified that when he or Durenda "got onto [Jane Doe] or anything...she got mad" and threatened to move out. (T. III. 374-75). She would move out to "punish" them. But Jane Doe's punishment went further than moving out on this occasion. Jane Doe's punishment had consequences she never imagined in her seven-year old mind.

After a considerable amount of debate and numerous objections by both sides, the jury instructions were given by the trial court. Based on the testimony, evidence, instructions from the trial court, and arguments of counsel, the jury returned a verdict of guilty. Scott was sentenced to 35 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, with five years suspended. (T. 460, R.E. 26). The defense filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or in the alternative, for a new trial. (CP. 59-60, RE. 15-16) The motions were denied by the trial court. (CP. 59-60, RE. 15-16) Feeling aggrieved by the verdict and

sentence of the lower court, the Appellant herein perfected this appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court on June 1, 2007. (CP. 61-62, RE. 16-17)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This tragic injustice began with the word of a hurt, abused, and angry nine-year old child against the word of her stepfather who failed to protect his stepdaughter from his predatory sons. When a child claims that an adult has molested her, our instinct is to protect the child and punish the perpetrator. The child pointed at her stepfather, and from that point on no other suspects or possibilities were investigated, and the trial court refused to admit evidence that would allow the defense to adequately present their theory of defense to the jury. In cases such as this where the evidence is not overwhelming, procedure at trial must be careful to err on the side of the defendant in order to ensure that the best possible defense is presented to the jury. The cornerstone of our justice system is "innocent until proven guilty," and that is why the jury should hear all of the facts and surrounding circumstances. The prosecution was allowed to improperly pad their case and the defendant was barred from presenting evidence to the jury that would raise reasonable doubt.

The trial court first failed to declare a mistrial upon recognizing that venue was not proper in Lee County Circuit Court on one of the counts in the indictment that occurred in Itawamba County. It further allowed more inflammatory testimony regarding the Itawamba count throughout the State's case-in-chief, which was highly prejudicial to the Appellant. Even though the trial court ultimately granted a directed verdict on the Itawamba County

count and gave the jury a <u>verbal</u> limiting instruction to disregard the Itawamba County testimony, the trial court should have immediately dismissed Count II (the Itawamba County charge) and declared a mistrial as to the remaining Lee County charge. The trial court's refusal to initially grant a mistrial due to improper venue and a fatally defective indictment, as required by law, allowed the jury to hear improper and highly prejudicial testimony that could not be cured by <u>any</u> limiting instruction. The directed verdict at the end of the State's case-in-chief was not sufficient, and a mistrial should have been immediately declared. Instead of presenting evidence relating only to the crimes for which Mr. Caldwell was on trial, the State was also allowed to introduce testimony about other alleged "bad acts" that only served to prejudice the jury against Mr. Caldwell. As a result of the trial court's lack of venue and allowing this improper "propensity" evidence, the trial judge abused her discretion and this honorable Court should reverse this case, and remand it to the lower court with proper instructions for a new trial.

Further depriving the Appellant of his right to a fair trial, the trial court erred by refusing to allow Mr. Caldwell to properly present his defense theory by cross-examination of Jane or through the testimony of the perpetrators who had already been adjudged of molesting Jane. While the trial judge specifically recognized that it was important that the jury know that the child's knowledge of sexual terms could have come from prior molestation, the court refused to allow the perpetrators or the child to testify regarding the abuse. Additionally, it was key that the perpetrators testify to present the inference that the child may have been upset with her stepfather for not preventing the molestation. The trial

judge clearly abused her discretion in refusing to allow the defense to present this testimony under a misinterpretation of the exceptions and the policy purposes of *Mississippi Rule of Evidence (M.R.E.) 412*, therefore, this honorable Court should reverse this case, and remand it to the lower court with proper instructions for a new trial.

Further compounding this error in disallowing defense testimony, the trial court allowed the prosecution, on rebuttal, to present a witness previously allowed under M.R.E. 803(25) to testify regarding the prior sexual abuse. Defense counsel objected, and requested that the trial court require the prosecution call the child as a rebuttal witness. By overruling the defendant's argument and denying his request, the trial court deprived the Appellant of his Sixth Amendment right to confront the witness. The Appellant contends that the rulings of the trial court misapplied the "tender years" exception to the prohibition of hearsay testimony that deprived him of his constitutional right to adequately confront the witnesses against him. While the child did testify in the State's case-in-chief, the State was explicitly prohibited by the trial court from questioning the child about anything regarding the prior sexual abuse. Therefore, when the issue of prior sexual abuse came up during the State's rebuttal, the defense had no opportunity to cross-examine the child about the abuse unless the State specifically called the child as a rebuttal witness. Therefore, the M.R.E. 802(25) witness' hearsay testimony on rebuttal was not sufficient to satisfy the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment The Appellant respectfully requests this Court to find the trial court's application of the "tender years" exception to be error, reverse this case, and remand it to the lower court with proper instructions for a new trial.

Finally, the weight of the evidence does not support the conviction. While this Court has repeatedly held that the uncorroborated testimony of a sexual assault victim is sufficient to establish a *prima facie* case, one must also look to inconsistencies that present themselves in the child's testimony and take into account that the remainder of the prosecution's witnesses added nothing new. If the cases of the prosecution and the defense are given the same weight and measured by possible inconsistencies and corroboration, the jury did not have enough evidence to support a conviction of Mr. Caldwell. The overwhelming weight of the evidence presented at trial should have resulted in a verdict of not guilty. The Appellant requests that the Court reverse this case, remanding it to the lower court with proper instructions for a new trial.

Mr. Caldwell was found guilty of sexual battery on highly prejudicial evidence that could not in any way be described as overwhelming, following a trial infected with multiple procedural errors which can only be described as an almost complete failure of the trial process established by state and federal constitutional guarantees that all defendants receive a fair trial. Therefore, for the above reasons, this honorable Court should reverse and remand for a new trial on the merits of the case, with proper instructions to the lower court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO DISMISS BOTH COUNTS AFTER THE PROSECUTION BROUGHT THE CASE IN THE WRONG VENUE AND "MIS-CHARACTERIZED" THE ILLEGAL

# TESTIMONY AS M.R.E. 404(B) EVIDENCE, ALLOWING THE JURY TO HEAR IMPROPER AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY WHEN SUCH EVIDENCE FATALLY PREJUDICED THE JURY.

In the prosecution's rush to judgment in this case, it is undisputed from the record that Count II of the indictment was brought in the wrong venue and that even after the trial judge realized the Lee County Circuit Court did not have jurisdiction over the case, at the urging of the State, allowed the prosecution to present highly prejudicial testimony related to this count as admissible under Mississippi Rule of Evidence M.R.E. 404(b). The question before this honorable Court is whether the trial court erred when it failed to direct a verdict in favor of the defendant as soon as the trial judge realized venue was improper, but instead continuously allowed the improper, highly prejudicial testimony by attempting to mischaracterize it during trial as "other bad acts" at the urging of the prosecution. As this issue involves the proper jurisdiction authorized circuit courts after having established venue under Miss. Code Ann. 99-11-1(3) (Supp. 2007) and the proper application of M.R.E. 404(b), a mixed question of law and fact is presented, and the appropriate standard of appellate review is also mixed. Nester v. Jernigan, 908 So. 2d 145, 147 (Miss. 2005). The review of the trial judge's application of the law of venue and jurisdiction is reviewed de novo, while the "clear error" standard of review applies to the trial court's findings of fact. Id.

Venue is an essential division of proof in a criminal prosecution. So essential is proper venue to the accused that Mississippi has safeguarded this right constitutionally and statutorily. "In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have a right to... a speedy and

public trial by an impartial jury of the county where the offense was committed." Miss. Const. Art 3, sec. 26 (Supp. 2007) (emphasis added). Furthermore, "the local jurisdiction of all offenses...shall be in the county where committed." Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 99-11-3(1) (Supp 2007). When the issue is brought to the trial court's attention that venue is improper, the trial court has a duty to immediately dismiss the case to comply with the safeguards established to guarantee the defendant a fair trial in the court of proper jurisdiction.

In this case, the trial court erred in its duty to immediately grant the Appellant a directed verdict as to Count II when it became apparent that the State had brought the case in the wrong county. The Appellant was charged with a two-count indictment both alleging sexual acts on a minor. Within the testimony of two witnesses of the State's case-in-chief, the State and trial court realized and acknowledged that venue for Count II was improper and the following colloquy was had in this matter:

The Court: Does the State concede that the Carolina Community where David's house is located in Itawamba County?

Mr. Farris: We do ma'am.

The Court: Gentlemen, I am of the opinion that the ABC's of putting on the criminal indictment is to prove venue, and even though those other alleged crimes in Itawamba County might speak to identity of the same person, it being the defendant, it might speak to the defendant's propensity for lustful purposes toward a particular victim, I still think you've got to prove venue. And in this case it's admitted by the State that David's house is not in Itawamba County...My ruling is that the State cannot go

forward to prove any wrongdoing that occurred in Itawamba County, with the understanding this defendant is likely to face charges in Itawamba County.

#### (T. II 249-251) (emphasis added)

At this point, the trial court had a procedural, constitutional <u>and</u> statutory duty to dismiss Count II immediately because of the court's lack of venue to prosecute the Appellant for acts allegedly committed <u>outside</u> of its jurisdiction. However, the trial court, even in view of its ruling set out hereinabove, forsook this responsibility to dismiss the count for lack of jurisdiction upon hearing further argument from the prosecution, then changed her ruling, adopting the State's "re-characterization" of the improperly admitted, highly prejudicial evidence and testimony resulting from the erroneously included count in the indictment:

Mr. Farris: But venue is not the argument, ma'am. He's trying to keep out evidence of other crimes, other wrong-doings, and the State says that they are so – we say they are so intertwined.

The Court: I understand your argument, Mr. Farris, and I'm going to refrain from making that ruling now based upon your suggestion of reconsideration...Now, let's say this. The reason that the State argues that it should be admissible has to do with the exception to the rule that you're showing that testimony for purposes of opportunity, motive, intent, knowledge, identity, or lack of mistake. It's got to come in that way.

# (T. II 254-255) (emphasis added)

Instead of minimizing the prejudicial effect of the testimony by immediately

sustaining the defense motion to dismiss the void count over which it had no venue or jurisdiction, the trial judge compounded this error by accepting the prosecution's argument of "re-characterizing" the evidence and by declaring the improper testimony as admissible *M.R.E.* 404(b) evidence. The trial court committed fatal error by allowing the prosecution to continue to present this "mis-characterized evidence as to this entire indictment, instead of immediately dismissing Count II and considering a mistrial as to Count I. The decision by the trial court to give an <u>untimely</u> directed verdict at the end of the State's case only served to further taint the jury as to Count I with incompetent evidence by ruling:

The Court: I'm assuring you, Mr. Bristow, that when you make that motion for a directed verdict as to the Itawamba County acts, it will be granted.

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