IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SCOTT OLIVER CALDWELL

APPELLANT

VS.

JUL - 7 2008

Office of the Clerk
Supreme Court

NO. 2007-KA-0970

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

In his First Assignment of Error, the Appellant asserts that the trial court should have dismissed count II of the indictment and granted a mistrial as to count I. It is said that, contrary to the allegations of count II of the indictment, the testimony showed that the acts alleged in that count occurred in Itawamba County, rather than Lee County, Mississippi.

The indictment alleged, in count I, that the Appellant committed sexual battery against the victim by having her perform fellatio upon him. Count II alleged sexual battery against the victim in that he vaginally penetrated her with his finger or fingers. Both counts alleged that the acts were committed in Lee County. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 3 - 4). In the course of the trial, it became apparent that the acts alleged in count II occurred in Itawamba County. The trial court granted a directed verdict as to that count for that reason. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 356; 358 - 359).

The Appellant asserts that the trial court should have directed a verdict as to count II much earlier in the case, rather than at the conclusion of the State's case - in -chief. He claims that it was prejudicial error that the court did not do so because the State was able to prove that

the victim was vaginally penetrated.

There was a lengthy hearing at the conclusion of Christina Gray's testimony. The Appellant moved *in limine* to have the State prohibited from eliciting testimony concerning what the Appellant had done to the victim at Uncle David's house. The ground alleged was that Uncle David's house was in Itawamba County. The State conceded that Uncle David's house was in Itawamba County. However, it asserted that the testimony regarding vaginal penetration at Uncle David's house was admissible under M.R.E 404(b) with respect to count I of the indictment. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 246 - 249).

acts are admissible if they were committed on the victim of the crime charged to show a lustful disposition toward that particular victim. However, it appeared that the court thought that the fact that the Appellant had not been convicted of those other acts affected the admissibility of such evidence. The court then ruled that the State would not be permitted to prove the acts that occurred in Itawamba County and indicated that it would instruct the jury that they were to disregard all testimony concerning acts that occurred in Itawamba County. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 251).

The State sought reconsideration of that ruling, pointing out that the venue issue had nothing to do with the admissibility of the evidence under Rule 404(b). The State asked the trial court to "refrain" from a ruling at that time. The court apparently declined, but, confusingly, appeared to make an exception of some sort concerning "general opinions or findings" (R. Vol. 3, pp. 251 - 254).

Nonetheless, the court appeared to reconsider its ruling. It granted the defense a continuing objection to any testimony concerning acts that occurred in Itawamba County. It then instructed the attorneys that it intended to conduct an M.R.E. 403 analysis. The State cited

Lannier State, 752-80.2d 206 (Miss Ct. App. 2006) in support of its position that the acts committed at Uncle David's house were admissible. The defense simply asserted that the evidence was much more prejudicial than probative. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 254; 258 - 259)

After a bit more argument from counsel, the trial court ruled that the acts that occurred in Itawamba County would be admissible under M.R.E. 404(b). In an extensive ruling, the court cited a number of decisions in support of its ruling. It further found that the evidence was more probative than prejudicial. It then informed the defense that a limiting instruction would be granted at the request of the defense. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 262 - 265).

We do not think it necessary to consider at what precise moment the court should have granted a directed verdict. The reason this is so is because the evidence of the vaginal penetration of the victim by the Appellant was admissible under M.R.E. 404(b) as to count I of the indictment, as recognized by the trial court. *E.g. Larson v. State*, 957 So.2d 1005, 1013 - 1014 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); *Lattimer v. State*, 952 So.2d 206, 215 - 216 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)(citing *Mitchell v. State*, 539 So.2d 1366 (Miss. 1989)); *McClure v. State*, 941 So.2d 896 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Even had there not been a count II, the evidence would have been admissible. Since this evidence would have been admissible even if only the acts at Uncle Wayne's house were the subject of the indictment, the Appellant's argument regarding venue is simply a red herring. Furthermore, since the Appellant was not convicted of count II of the indictment, we fail to see how he has any complaint to make of it.

Goodx

The Appellant appears to suggest that it was unclear whether the acts of vaginal penetration occurred at Uncle David's or Uncle Wayne's house. We think the victim and other witness made it clear where they occurred, even if the one witness cited by the Appellant was unsure. In any event, it does not matter where they occurred. It is the fact that they occurred that

was the important thing. In any event, if it was unclear where they occurred, whether in Lee or Itawamba counties, then we would think that it was error for the trial court to direct a verdict as to count II. Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-11-3(1) (Rev. 2007).

The Appellant cites Feder a State 299 So 2d 682 (Mises 1974) for the proposition that evidence concerning other crimes should not be introduced in a trial upon an unrelated crime. However, this pre-rules decision did not involve an analysis under Rule 404(b). Under Rule 404(b), evidence of other bad conduct may be admitted in order to establish one or more of these purposes set out in the rule. *Tudor* was a case in which, according to the Court, the prosecution simply introduced bad act evidence without any evidentiary license to do so. Clearly, evidence of other sexual acts is admissible under Rule 404(b), as the cases cited above demonstrate.

The Appellant also cites **Hopkins** V. States 620 So 2d 1247 (Min. st. 1993). However, that case did not involve Rule 404(b). There, the State wished to impeach the testimony of the defendant with evidence of his prior conviction of touching a child for lustful purposes. *Hopkins* involves an entirely different rule of law and is simply not relevant here.

The Appellant also appears to suggest that the trial court should have granted a mistrial as to count 1 of the indictment. However, the Appellant does not appear to ever have sought a mistrial as to count 1. In any event, since the evidence of prior sexual acts was admissible in the case at bar, there would have been no good ground to grant a mistrial.

In the Appellant's lengthy, meandering argument on this issue, he utterly fails to address, or even mention, the line of decisions we have set out above. The plain and simple fact is that evidence of prior consultations and simple fact is that evidence of prior consultations are admissible under Rule 404(b).

This rule has been applied in single count indictments. Thus, the venue problem with respect to

Really?

count II of the indictment is and was utterly irrelevant. The evidence of prior sexual acts by the Appellant against the victim was admissible regardless of when count II was dismissed, or even had there been no count II to begin with.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS RULING UNDER M.R.E. 412; THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS RULING UNDER M.R.E. 803(25)

A. M.R.E. 412

After the jury was selected to try the Appellant, the State brought on a motion to prohibit the defense from producing the testimony of the two boys who attempted to penetrate the victim vaginally. The State did not deny that the Appellant's sons did, in fact, attempt to do so, and in fact the State indicated that it intended to inform the jury about that fact. Citing M.R. 1992, the State asserted that the testimony of the boys would be relevant to the defense intended to attempt to the without the Appellant was not the source of semen, pregnancy, disease or sixty. Since the State intended to inform the jury of what the boys had done, the testimony of the boys would be collateral. The State further noted that the boys would quite likely have to be advised of their rights and be represented by counsel. The State asserted that the boys should not be permitted to testify under authority of M.R.E. 401 and 403 (R. Vol. 3, pp. 176; 178).

The defense asserted that the purpose in calling the boys was to attempt to the company that the vicinity in vicinity in the vicinity in vicinity in the vicinity in vicinity

nature, sex talk, sex in general". However, the defense acknowledged that it could likely produce such evidence through other witnesses. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 180 - 181; 183 - 184).

The trial court ruled that the victim's prior sexual conduct was not relevant under Rule 412. It further found that the purpose stated by the defense for the testimony fit none of the exceptions set up in the rule. The defense, though, claimed that the testimony would go to show the source of the injury, even though it did not identify what injury, if any injury, it was talking about. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 186 - 187). The court stood by its ruling, stating, though, that should it develop during the trial that some exception might arise it would revisit the issue. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 188 - 192).

First of all, as admitted by the Appellant (Brief for the Appellant at 22), the defense did not file a motion under Rule 412(c)(1), (2) within the time required by that rule. Moreover, the defense utterly failed to follow the other procedural requirements of the rule. That being so, the Appellant was barred from producing the testimony of the boys. *Lofton v. State*, 818 So.2d 1229 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002); *Levy v. State*, 724 So.2d 405 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). However, for whatever reason or reasons, neither the State nor the trial court noted this.

It has been held that, where the State fails to point out the procedural deficiencies of a defense motion under Rule 412, those deficiencies are waived. *Herrington v. State*, 690 So.2d 1132 (Miss. 1997).¹ However, we think that *Herrington* is distinguishable from the facts of the

¹ We respectfully ask that the Court reconsider whether the failure of the State to object to a procedural defect under Rule 412 works a waiver of the defect. Under Rule 412(b)(1), past sexual behavior is not admissible <u>unless</u> admitted in accordance with 412(c)(1), (2). The language of the rule is mandatory. Such evidence is simply not to be admitted unless the conditions permitting admission are strictly adhered to. Rule 412 exists to protect victims of sex crimes from unnecessary and potentially embarrassing explorations into their intimate lives. This purpose ought not to be dependent on whether the State thinks to object to procedural deficiencies in a motion under Rule 412.

case at bar, and inapplicable here. In the case at bar, the defense did not file a motion under Rule
412. What occurred was that the State moved the trial court to prohibit testimony about other
sexual incidents concerning the victim. The defense never filed any kind of motion under Rule
412, in characteristic with what was done in *Herrington*.

Since the Appellant never filed a motion, there was, in fact, nothing about a motion under

Since the Appellant never filed a motion, there was, in fact, nothing about a motion under Rule 412 for the State to object to — the motion before the court was the State's motion, not one by the defense. The defense in the case at bar simply argued against the State's motion. Since the defense never affirmatively sought admission under Rule 412, but simply argued against the State's motion, it never actually invoked Rule 412's procedure for admission of this kind of evidence. Since that did not occur, the defense is in no position to complain of the trial court's ruling here. The first half of the Second Assignment of Error is barred here because the Appellant did not move for admission of this evidence under Rule 412 and did not comply with the procedural requirements of Rule 412. The State has not waived its objections in view of the fact that there was no motion by the defense to object to. Rather, the defense simply did not move for admission of this testimony.

Assuming that the first half of the Second Assignment of Error is before the Court, notwithstanding the fact that it is not, there is no merit in it.

As we have said, the defense stated that it wanted the testimony of the two boys in order to demonstrate that the victim's knowledge of sexual matters came from their acts against her. However, under Rule 412(b)(2)(A), this purpose is not one of those listed. In any event, there was no evidence of pregnancy, source of semen or disease; there was nothing to show an injury save a bruise, which the victim got while playing on playground equipment. The Court of Appeals has held that evidence of prior sexual behavior, if admissible, is admissible only as to

the particular items set out in Rule 412(b)(2)(A). Levy v. State, supra, at 408. Since the purpose asserted by the defense was not one of the items listed in the rule, the trial court was correct to refuse to permit the boys from testifying.

The Appellant suggests that the evidence somehow might have gone to demonstrate fabrication on the part of the victim. (Brief for the Appellant at 23). This claim was not raised in the trial court and may not be raised here. Crenshaw v. State, 520 So.2d 131 (Miss. 1988). In any event, there is nothing in this record to support any theory of fabrication beyond the Appellant's denial of having battered his stepdaughter.

The Appellant then says that the victim was traumatized, and thus physically injured. From that, he somehow reasons that maybe Rule 412 does not apply after all and that he should have been permitted to show that the boys caused the "injury". (Brief for the Appellant, at 23). This argument barely requires a response, so obviously strained as it is. If emotional or psychological trauma on the part of sexual battery victims would be sufficient to constitute "injury" sufficient to permit enquiry into a victim's past sexual behavior, then there would be no per Stockers, limits at all: it may be fairly assumed that all such victims suffer emotionally. The purpose in limiting enquiries into a victim's sexual history would be completely frustrated were nonphysical trauma sufficient to permit such enquiries. In any event, december 1976, 676 So.2d 909 (Miss. 1996) is no authority for the Appellant. In that case, the Court held that the same was also not supply and the manufacture of the contract Here, the Appellant wanted to introduce evidence of entirely separate and unrelated instances of sexual misconduct with the victim, instances which did not involve him. The acts in question were different in kind as well. The evidence proposed to be admitted was not that of an

alternate explanation but was of an entirely separate incident.

The Appellant then surmises that the boys' testimony might have been admissible under Rule 412(b)(1). First of all, this was not urged as a ground of admission in the trial court. The Appellant may not be heard to raise it here. *Crenshaw, supra*. Secondly, since he urges admission of this testimony for the first time under 412(b)(1), we will point out that he did not comply with the requirements of the rule. He did not file a motion in the time required under Rule 412(c)(1), and he did not provide a written offer of proof as required by Rule 412(c)(2). Rule 412(b)(1) requires compliance with these rules. Since he failed to comply with the rule, there would have been no error had the trial court, under 412(b)(1), prohibited the testimony. *Aguilar v. State*, 955 So.2d 386 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

Beyond this, we fail to see how the Appellant's right of confrontation was implicated. The acts by the boys were entirely separate and distinct from those of the Appellants. The Appellant was completely free to exercise the right to confront the victim about the acts he committed against her. This was sufficient since nothing the boys did against the victim was evidence against the Appellant.

The Appellant then says that the "policy reasons" behind Rule 412 do not apply in the case at bar, asserting that the only purpose for the rule is to protect sexual assault victims from being humiliated by evidence of their sexual history. This argument was not raised in the trial court, and it may not be raised here. *Brown v. State*, 682 So.2d 340, 350 (Miss. 1996).

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